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Unpublished opinions are not binding precedent in this circuit. See
Local Rule 36(c).

OPINION
PER CURIAM:

Meliane Montague was indicted, along with Edith Peterson, on

three counts of making material false statements to the government,
and aiding and abetting, in violation of 18 U.S.C.A.8 1001 (West
1976 & Supp. 1999), 18 U.S.C. § 2 (1994), and one count of conspir-
acy to do the samein violation of 18 U.S.C.A. § 371 (West 1966 &
Supp. 1999). After ajury trial, Montague was convicted on all four
counts and sentenced to concurrent terms of twenty-four months
imprisonment for each count. Montague appeals her conviction. We
reverse and remand the case for anew trial.

During the period covered by the indictment, March 30, 1994, to
September 12, 1995, Montague and Peterson were employees of the
United States Postal Service (USPS) at the Brentwood Station Post
Office in Raleigh, North Carolina. Montague was the station manager,
and Peterson was awindow clerk. One of Peterson's duties wasto sell
stamps to the public. This prosecution arose from the process by
which these sales were audited.

When the post office issued stamps to awindow clerk to sell, they
were recorded on a USPS Form 17. Each clerk was then held respon-
sible for the stamps issued to him or her. Audits were conducted peri-
odically to ensure that the clerks stamp sales and stamp stock
balanced out. During such an audit, both the clerk and a supervisor
were required to count the stamps one by one. Each then listed the
types and numbers of stamps on a separate USPS Form 3294. If the
clerk and supervisor agreed in the results of their respective counts,
then each would sign the forms and keep a copy. If the clerk and
supervisor did not initially agree, then they would conduct additional
counts until they agreed on the contents of the stamp stock.
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The investigation in this case was precipitated by a burglary at the
Brentwood Station Post Office on September 12, 1995. Postal inspec-
tors called to the scene found the office ransacked. Montague
informed the inspectors that the only items stolen were football tick-
ets, food stamps, and approximately $80,000 in redeemed stamp
stock. Redeemed stamp stock consists of old denomination stamps
that are taken back from clerks after a postal rate increase.

Postal inspectors noted that items of greater value--such as current
stamp stock, postal money orders, and two money order imprinting
machines--were not taken. They a so concluded that damageto a
door frame in the post office had been caused from the inside, and
there was no evidence of forced entry. A manager from another post
office had begun a surprise audit of Brentwood Station four days
before the burglary, and she had planned to return to complete it. All
of these factors led postal inspectors to believe that the burglary was
an "insidejob."

Upon further investigation, inspectors found that $70,000 of the
$88,000 in redeemed stamp stock that was reported stolen had been
turned in by Peterson. Thisled Postal Inspector Angela Ellison to
focus her investigation on Montague and Peterson. Inspector Ellison
testified that $70,000 in stamp stock was "a very high amount for any
one clerk to have turned in." J.A. 158-59.

Inspector Ellison conducted a full audit of the stamps that were

issued to Peterson and the stamps inventories counted on USPS 3294
forms that Montague and Peterson filed together. Inspector Ellison
found that on December 3, 1993, Montague and Peterson indicated on
aUSPS Form 3294 that Peterson possessed 59 $9.95 stamps. On
March 30, 1994, Montague and Peterson indicated on a USPS Form
3294 that Peterson possessed 526 $9.95 stamps. According to the post
office records, however, Peterson had been issued no $9.95 stampsin
the interim and therefore could not have had more than 59 stamps.
Inspector Ellison found similar discrepancies with respect to $95 and
$115 coils of stamps and books of stamps on USPS 3294 forms filed
by Montague and Peterson on January 25, 1995, and July 14, 1995.
Inflating the value of stamp stock in a clerk’'s possession can cover

up thefts of money or stamps. These discrepancies were the basis of
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the three fal se statement counts and the conspiracy count in the indict-
ment.

At trial, counsel for Montague elicited from Inspector Ellison that,

as part of her investigation, she examined the bank accounts of Mon-
tague and Peterson to determine whether any unusual activity had
taken place. Counsel attempted to elicit from Inspector Ellison that
she found no deposits of unusually large sums of money in Monta-
gue's or Peterson's accounts. The district court interrupted this ques-
tioning, stated that it was not relevant, and asked the prosecutor if he
was going to alow it to continue. The prosecutor then made an objec-
tion, which the court sustained.

In presenting its case, the defense called as a witness Beverly Mar-
riot, a customer service supervisor at Brentwood Station. Counsel for
Montague first questioned Marriot about the procedures for disposing
of redeemed or obsolete stamp stock at Brentwood Station. The dis-
trict court stopped the questioning, called counsel to the bench, and
inquired about the relevance of thisline of inquiry. Counsel for Mon-
tague argued that he was attempting to establish that the redeeming
procedures were confusing and had changed often in order to explain
the large amount of redeemed stamp stock reportedly in Peterson's
possession. The district court ruled that this line of questioning was
irrelevant to the charges on trial.

Defense counsel also questioned Marriot about the staffing condi-
tions at Brentwood Station. She testified that Brentwood Station was
busy, that Montague managed three other stations, and that Montague
was short of supervisors for significant time periods between 1993
and 1995. When Marriot was asked to tell the jury about this short-
handedness, the district court interrupted her answer and ruled that
evidence of understaffing at Brentwood Station was irrelevant. In
doing so, the court told the jury: "That's all you have to decideis
whether or not those statements were false in the three charged
Counts, 2, 3, 4, and whether or not they entered into an unlawful
agreement to violate the law by making false statements and commit-
ted an overt act in that respect.” J.A. 229. In a proffer to the district
court submitted by Montague's attorney, Marriot stated that, between
1993 and 1995, there were periods when Brentwood Station lacked
adequate supervisory personnel dueto sick leave and work detail
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assignments. The Marriot proffer further stated that these supervisors
worked under Montague and had authority to conduct Postal Form
3294 audits, that as aresult Montague at times was required to work
12-hour days, and that Montague at times did not have the time or
supervisory personnel to conduct timely audits.

Montague appeal s the decision of the district court to exclude three
items of testimony asirrelevant. Evidence isrelevant if it has "any
tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to
the determination of the action more probable or less probable than

it would be without the evidence." Fed. R. Evid. 401. "A district
court's evidentiary rulings are entitled to substantial deference and
will not be reversed absent a clear abuse of discretion.” United States
V. Moore, 27 F.3d 969, 974 (4th Cir. 1994). A clear abuse of discre-
tion is considered clearly erroneous. Evidentiary rulings are also sub-
ject to harmless error review. Fed. R. Crim. P. 52(a). "[1]n order to
find adistrict court's error harmless, we need only be able to say
“with fair assurance, after pondering all that happened without strip-
ping the erroneous action from the whole, that the judgment was not
substantially swayed by the error.™ United States v. Heater, 63 F.3d
311, 325 (4th Cir. 1995) (citations omitted).

Thefirst item excluded by the district court was testimony of

Postal |nspector Ellison regarding the bank accounts of Montague and
Peterson. Although it was not charged in the indictment, it was clear
from the evidence presented at tria that the object of the alleged con-
spiracy to make fal se statements on postal inventory forms would
have been to mask the theft of large amounts of money or stamps
from the post office for profit. Just as testimony by Inspector Ellison
that there were unexplained deposits in the bank accounts of either
Montague or Peterson would have been probative of such a conspir-
acy, testimony that there was no unusual banking activity would have
made the existence of such a conspiracy less likely. The exclusion of
this testimony, together with the court's statement that the jury need
only find that the audit statements were false, was clearly erroneous.

The district court next excluded testimony by Marriot about the
procedures by which the post office redeemed obsol ete stamps. Evi-
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dence that these procedures were confusing and changed often could
have explained the large amount of redeemed stock attributed to
Peterson, which was one of the factors that led Inspector Ellison to
investigate her stamp inventories. The testimony a so would have
made the existence of accounting mistakes on the part of Montague
more likely. The prosecution was required to prove that Montague
made the material false statements "knowingly and willfully." 18
U.S.C.A. § 1001(a) (Supp. 1999). If the discrepanciesin stamp inven-
tories were the product of mistakes by Montague, the required ele-
ment of intent would not be present. In excluding this portion of
Marriot's testimony, the ruling of the district court was clearly errone-
ous.

Finally, the district court prevented Marriot from explaining that,
during the relevant period, Brentwood Station had a shortage of
supervisors who could conduct stamp audits, Montague was working
12-hour days, and she was not able to conduct timely audits. Far from
being irrelevant, all of these factors would make a conclusion that

M ontague made mistakes in completing the stamp audits more likely.
Once again, the proffered evidence was relevant to the element of
intent. The district court overlooked this when it stated that the only
relevant question was whether the postal formsin question contained
materia false statements. In excluding this evidence that was relevant
to intent, the district court's ruling was clearly erroneous.

These errors in excluding relevant testimony at trial were not harm-
less. In conducting a harmless error analysis, areviewing court con-
siders "all that happened without stripping the erroneous action[s]
from the whole." Heater, 63 F.3d at 325. If more than one error
occurred at trial, then all errors are aggregated to determine whether
their cumulative effect mandates reversal. United Statesv. Rivera,
900 F.2d 1462, 1470-71 (10th Cir. 1990) (describing cumulative error
analysis).

Montague's main theory of defense at trial was that the discrepan-
cies found on postal audit forms were not the result of intentional
actions on her part but the product of understaffing and confusing
procedures for turning in redeemed stamp stock. The district court
excluded three items of testimony that would have been relevant to
this defense. Taken individually, each of the errors by the district
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court may have been harmless in the whole context of the trial. Tak-
ing them together, however, we cannot conclude that the jury's
"“judgment was not substantially swayed by the error[s]." Heater, 63
F.3d at 325.

We reverse Montague's conviction and remand the case to the dis-
trict court for further proceedings.

REVERSED AND REMANDED
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